
        
            
                
            
        


		
			Advance Praise for 
Our Flag Was Still There

			 

			“Tom McMillan’s Our Flag Was Still There brilliantly fills a significant gap in our historical knowledge about an American icon like no other: the 15-star, 15-stripe flag that became known as The Star-Spangled Banner and the family that commissioned it, saved it, and presented it to the nation. This is a sprightly written, deeply researched, fascinating look at the ‘life’ of the USA’s most recognized and historic symbol.” 

			—Marc Leepson, journalist, historian, and the author of Flag: An American Biography and What So Proudly We Hailed: Francis Scott Key, A Life. 

			 

			 

			“That both the flag and the song known as The Star-Spangled Banner survived the test of time and controversy to gain the symbolic power they express today was no accident. Deeply researched and in engaging prose, Tom McMillan’s new book Our Flag Was Still There not only tells us how it happened, but explores the deeper meaning of their patriotic partnership.”

			—Mark Clague, author of O Say Can You Hear?: A Cultural Biography of “The Star-Spangled Banner”

			 

			 

			“A flag made of 15 stars and 15 stripes flew amidst the rocket’s red glare over Fort McHenry in 1814, becoming the inspiration for a new song — but the story of America’s most famous flag had only just begun that night in Baltimore. In his new book, Our Flag Was Still There, Tom McMillan brings fresh insights into the symbolic journey of the original Star-Spangled Banner through two centuries of our nation’s history. Even today, it survives and inspires!”

			—Scott Sheads, ranger/historian at Fort McHenry National Monument and Historic Shrine (retired)

			 

			 

			“Tom McMillan’s Our Flag Was Still There is a masterful recounting of one of the most iconic events in American history. Based on extensive research, McMillan offers up an abundance of fascinating detail that will surprise even those who thought they knew all about the story, including me!” 

			—Ronald D. Utt, author of Ships of Oak, Guns of Iron: The War of 1812 and the Forging of the American Navy

			 

			 

			“In great depth and detail, McMillan tells the story of the ‘Star-Spangled Banner’ from its first stitches to the present time—a wonderful variety of angles emerge based on his careful reading of copious documents.  A rich contribution to our understanding, both of the flag and the song.”

			—David Hildebrand, Ph.D, Director Emeritus, the Colonial Music Institute
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			On the cover: The iconic Star-Spangled Banner from Fort McHenry was photographed for the first time in 1873, almost sixty years after the battle, thanks to the foresight of Commodore George Preble who hung it from a building at the Boston Naval Yard. (Courtesy of American Antiquarian Society, George Preble Papers)
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			CHAPTER ONE

			An American Icon

			This is the story behind the story of the most famous flag in U.S. history.

			It is on display today at the Smithsonian Institution, a tattered, two-hundred-year-old wisp of its former self, laid gently at a ten-degree angle in an environmentally-controlled chamber with barely enough light to see the imperfections. Visitors peer through the glass in awestruck silence.

			Surprisingly massive at thirty by thirty-four feet, but still eight feet shorter than its original width, perforated with holes and barely-visible stitches from two centuries ago, breathtakingly thin, it is what remains of the iconic Star-Spangled Banner that flew over Fort McHenry in Baltimore on September 14, 1814, after Major George Armistead and his exhausted, rain-soaked troops withstood a twenty-five-hour bombardment by the British Navy.1

			Watching closely that morning was a thirty-five-year-old lawyer and amateur songwriter named Francis Scott Key, whose presence on the deck of a nearby ship was a quirk of fate.2 Detained by the British during the battle, waiting anxiously for dawn to break as gunfire petered out, Key scribbled frenetic notes, wondering if a U.S. flag still flew over the fort. The end of his song’s first verse—completed two days later—was even punctuated with a question mark:

			O say does that star spangled banner yet wave,

			O’er the land of the free and the home of the brave?

			By the time he got around to his notes for a second verse, Key had his answer. Straining through his spyglass from several miles away, he could make out the stars and stripes of the United States, hanging defiantly from the flagpole. The fort and the city had been saved, and perhaps the young country with them. His heart filled with patriotic joy as he applied an exclamation point.

			‘Tis the star-spangled banner—O long may it wave,

			O’er the land of the free and the home of the brave!3

			Key’s lyrics, written to the music of “To Anacreon in Heaven”—a tune he knew well—would not become the official national anthem until 1931, but they did more than just give the big flag its nickname; they captured the essence of a defining moment in the country’s history.4 It is easy to forget that the Battle of Baltimore took place only thirty-eight years after the Declaration of Independence. A defeat by the British at Fort McHenry in September 1814 could have altered the “course of human events” in ways we can’t imagine. Moreover, although the American flag had been displayed with pride since its creation in 1777, it was still not viewed as a symbol that tied the former colonies together.5 Key’s song, written with the rare perspective of an eyewitness to the battle, gave it that special stature.

			“What Key really started,” said the Smithsonian’s Jeffrey Brodie, “was the transformation of the flag from a military utilitarian symbol to something that embodied new definitions of American identities and ideals.”6

			The idea for such a massive version of the flag had come one year earlier from Major Armistead himself. He wanted a banner at Fort McHenry so large that the British would “have no trouble seeing it from a distance,” but he had no idea he was setting in motion a series of events that would lead to the national anthem, the national motto (“In God We Trust,” which is lifted from Key’s fourth verse) and two centuries’ worth of celebration and controversy.7 The momentous task of making the flag went to a Baltimore seamstress named Mary Young Pickersgill, whose mother had sewn banners for George Washington and the Continental Army during the Revolutionary War.8 Mary’s gigantic masterpiece of fifteen white stars on a blue background, and fifteen red-and-white stripes—the official design of the time—was completed in August 1813 and flew over the fort for a full year before the famous British attack.

			And yet it is only because of the diligence of the Armistead family that the old flag exists today. Early details of the chain of custody are murky, but the most likely scenario is that George Armistead took it home as a souvenir sometime after the battle, in a clear violation of U.S. Army regulations. Over the next ninety years, it remained in the private possession of the Armistead family in Baltimore and New York City, passed down to George’s wife, Louisa; to his daughter, Georgiana Armistead Appleton; and to his grandson, Ebenezer “Eben” Appleton—each of them caring for the aging relic while mostly keeping it out of public view. Not until Eben grew weary of the pressures of preservation did he give it to the Smithsonian in the early 1900s, ensuring that it would always be “still there.”9
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			The Star-Spangled Banner from Fort McHenry in 1814 as it is displayed today at the Smithsonian’s National Museum of American History. (Division of Political and Military History, National Museum of American History, Smithsonian Institution)

			“That’s the really remarkable part of the story,” said Brent D. Glass, director of the National Museum of American History during the flag restoration process in the early 2000s. “Whenever I had a chance to lead foreign dignitaries on a tour of the museum, they were amazed that we had the foresight to save this historic symbol from the 1800s. Sometimes it takes that kind of perspective—the view of someone from a different country—to confirm how important it was to do this. And it all started with private citizens, with the Armistead family, long before it ever came to the Smithsonian.” 10

			The improbable story of the flag’s survival gives it a hallowed status among American icons, but legends of national history are rarely pristine, and no element of life in the early republic was untainted by slavery. There is no record that George Armistead held slaves, but he came from a long line of slave-holding ancestors in Virginia, and his daughter, Georgiana, was listed as having three Black “servants” in the 1860 Baltimore census.11 Key certainly owned slaves, an especially shameful critique for one who wrote so glowingly of the “land of the free.” Multiple descendants of the Armistead and Key families then fought for the Confederacy in the Civil War, including Brigadier General Lewis Armistead, George’s nephew, who led a Rebel brigade in Pickett’s Charge at Gettysburg.12

			But the Fort McHenry flag survived the civic upheaval of the 1800s, enduring a violent tug-of-war over the future of the country and appearing only occasionally at public events before finding a home at the Smithsonian in 1907. Frayed and damaged as it was, battered by time and elements that made it too weak ever to be flown again from a pole, it withstood a series of massive repairs over the next century and never fell apart. A curator of the modern-day exhibit said it best in 2014 when she called the old flag “a metaphor” for the United States: “It’s tattered, it’s torn, but it still survives, and the message is really the survival of both the country and the flag.”13 Now, more than two hundred years after the perilous fight in Baltimore harbor, the resilience of the original Star-Spangled Banner is reflective of the complex and still-evolving nation it represents.
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			Though barely remembered today, George Armistead was one of America’s foremost heroes in the inaptly named “War of 1812.” (It merely started that year and did not end until 1815.) He rose to national prominence in May 1813, when he led an artillery attack against the British on the Canadian border and was selected to present captured battle flags to President James Madison in Washington, D.C. So impressed were Madison and U.S. military leaders that Armistead’s next assignment was command of the strategically significant Fort McHenry at nearby Baltimore harbor. There, in addition to shoring up eroded fortifications and enticing new recruits to defend against a possible invasion, he ordered a U.S. flag so enormous that the British would be able to see it from miles away.14

			George had long believed in the power of large flags. The scion of a legendary military family from Virginia, and an army veteran of fourteen years at the time of his appointment, he saw them as serving a dual purpose in battlefield settings: signs of defiance to taunt the enemy and hallmarks of pride to bolster inexperienced troops. The new flag he ordered for Fort McHenry measured thirty feet by forty-two feet, far larger than the standard size of a garrison flag today (twenty by thirty-eight) and yet still not as massive as the epic banner he commissioned for his post at Fort Niagara back in 1802 (thirty-six by forty-eight).15 But Armistead pronounced himself pleased with the result. Officers on any British ship probing the waters near Baltimore would have no problem seeing it “from a distance.”

			The thirty-three-year-old commander was well-acquainted with Baltimore and its bustling international harbor by the time he took over the fort’s operation on June 27, 1813. He had served there in various roles from 1809–1812 and set down roots by marrying a local lady, Louisa Hughes, daughter of a prominent Baltimore merchant.16 Duty called him away to distant posts at Bedloe’s Island, New York and Fort Niagara during the first twelve months of the war, but his heroic performance against Fort George in Canada (where his “judicious arrangements and skillful execution” helped in “demolishing the enemy’s fort and batteries”)17 and a sudden dearth of leadership at Fort McHenry, brought him home to his wife and baby daughter. One of Armistead’s first tasks after taking command was to attract new recruits to the vulnerable garrison. He promptly placed an ad in the Federal Gazette & Baltimore Daily Advertiser, offering a bounty of “FORTY DOLLARS, and One Hundred and Sixty Acres of Land” to “Reputable Young Men” who took up the cause.18

			Improved fortifications and increased manpower became even more crucial the following summer, when England’s military juggernaut sought to end the war by ransacking towns along the Chesapeake Bay and burning the nation’s capital. After brushing aside poorly led American militia at Bladensburg, Maryland on August 24, 1814, British troops roared unopposed into Washington, D.C. that night and set fire to the White House and U.S. Capitol building. Only quick action by Madison’s wife, Dolley, and others saved a small cadre of national treasures for posterity, including the official presidential portrait of George Washington.19 Humiliated Americans expected the worst and feared the next target would be Baltimore.

			Scrambling to prepare for an almost-certain attack, Armistead took no chances with the safety of his family, especially Louisa, who was nine months pregnant with their second child. Long before anyone would understand the irony of his decision, he arranged to send her sixty miles away to a small Pennsylvania farming town named Gettysburg. British commanders delayed their next move, however, deliberately debating tactics and options, and the expectant father came to regret the self-imposed separation, fearing he had acted in haste under duress. “I wish to God you had not been compeld to leave Baltimore but you now must be contented as it is impossible from your present condition to attempt a return,” Armistead wrote to Louisa in Gettysburg on September 10. “[S]hould they depart from the Bay I will be with you immediately, so be not alarm’d if I pop in on you.”20

			As an aside, he added, “I dremp last night that you presented me with a fine son. God grant it [may] be so and all well.”21

			History would show that he had not acted in haste (and that Louisa was still within days of delivering their second child, a daughter). The British briefly pondered a trip up the coast to Rhode Island to escape the deadly Chesapeake “sickly season” but soon reversed course and turned their attention to a plan to annihilate Baltimore.22 Recently arrived British army veterans, fresh from victory over Napoleon in Europe, would land at North Point ten miles away and unleash their fury on the militia’s outer defenses, grinding toward the city center. The Royal Navy, meanwhile, fortified by five of its deadly bomb ships, would hammer away at Fort McHenry until the garrison capitulated and Armistead raised a new flag—a white one—for surrender.23

			By late afternoon on Monday, September 12, the British had moved so much naval firepower within sight of the harbor that Armistead dashed off a frantic note to the overall commander of Baltimore’s defenses: “I have not a doubt but that an assault will be made this night upon the fort.”24

			He miscalculated, but only by a matter of hours. The naval attack opened at 6:30 a.m. on Tuesday, September 13, when the bomb ship Volcano lobbed the first of its fearsome two-hundred-pound shells to gauge the distance.25 The bombardment pounded Fort McHenry virtually nonstop for twenty-five hours. When British ships at one point ventured to within less than two miles of the fort to take even more precise aim, a U.S. soldier remembered that “Major Armistead mounted the parapet and ordered a battery of 24 pounders to be opened upon them…and then the whole Fort let drive at them.”26 But American guns here had a maximum range of a mile and a half, and the British quickly moved back to a frustratingly safer distance. “This to me was a most distressing circumstance,” Armistead wrote, “as it left Us exposed to a constant and tremendous Shower of Shells.” He noted with pride, however, that “not a Man Shrunk from the conflict.”27
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			Portrait of George Armistead from 1816, two years after the battle at Fort McHenry. Armistead descendants recently donated it to the Smithsonian. (Courtesy of Harry, Liz and George Armistead)

			Beyond the bravery of Armistead and his garrison, the singular advantage for U.S. troops was that much of the battle took place in a torrential downpour. The soggy conditions combined with a stout defensive stance from militia posted on nearby Hampstead Hill to blunt the British infantry assault. Meanwhile, a relentless fusillade of more than fifteen hundred bombs and seven hundred rockets were launched at the fort to no avail. When the “dawn’s early light” finally broke through the morning haze on Wednesday, September 14, with Armistead still holding on courageously, British Vice Admiral Alexander Cochrane determined that the grand British mission to capture Baltimore had failed. Shortly after 7 a.m., the harbor fell eerily quiet.28

			Out on the water just a few miles from the fort, an intrigued American observer struggled to make out the unidentifiable banner hanging wet and limp over the ramparts. Whose flag was it? Key had left Baltimore by boat a few days earlier, on a mercy mission to obtain the release of an elderly American prisoner, but British officers prevented him from returning once an attack plan was fully developed. The uncertainty of the outcome now gnawed at Key in the early morning silence. “As they had no communication with any of the enemy’s ships,” one of his friends wrote later, “they did not know whether the fort had surrendered or the attack upon it been abandoned.” Finally, however, as the mist began to clear, and daylight and visibility increased somewhat, an elated Key made out the familiar pattern of a U.S. flag.29

			It is probable that Key first caught a glimpse of the smaller “storm flag” (seventeen by twenty-five), which would have flown over Fort McHenry during inclement conditions the previous afternoon and night.30 But the more dramatic moment came at about 9 a.m. that morning, when, as the final British ships weighed anchor to pull away, Major Armistead’s magnificent garrison flag was raised over Baltimore’s harbor. “At this time our morning gun was fired, the flag hoisted, “Yankee Doodle” played, and we all appeared in full view of a formidable and mortified enemy,” one of Armistead’s soldiers wrote.31 The sullen British had a strikingly similar view. “As the last vessel spread her canvas to the wind,” a midshipman recalled, “the Americans hoisted a most superb and splendid ensign on their battery…”32

			Key, a descendant of John Key, poet laureate to England’s King Henry IV in the fifteenth century, jotted more notes to capture the buoyant mood.33 He had been ardently opposed to war with England from the start but briefly volunteered his services to a local militia unit when enemy troops threatened the D.C. region. Now, his view of the conflict had changed completely. “(In) that hour of deliverance and joyful triumph, my heart spoke,” Key explained years later. “Does not such a country, and such defenders of their country, deserve a song?”34

			O say can you see by the dawn’s early light,

			What so proudly we hailed at the twilight’s last gleaming

			An amateur wordsmith at best, Key could not have imagined he was drafting the first stanza of what would become, in 117 years, the U.S. national anthem. That was never his goal. He did not even think to give his new song a snappy title. Originally printed on handbills three days later as “The Defence of Fort M’Henry,” the lyrics were first published on September 20 by the Baltimore Patriot and greeted with widespread acclaim in the city. It was not until late October, however, when a clever Baltimore theatre promoter advertised “a much admired NEW SONG, written by a gentleman of Maryland, in commemoration of the GALLANT DEFENCE OF FORT M’HENRY, called THE STAR-SPANGLED BANNER” that an audience first heard the now-familiar title performed in a formal setting.35

			The immediate aftermath of the signature U.S. victory of the War of 1812 was not as gratifying for Major Armistead. His relief at defeating the British and saving the fort was decidedly short-lived. Burdened by the stress of command, lack of sleep, and an almost constant exposure to rain and wind while under incessant attack for more than twenty-four hours, he “was taken violently ill with a chill and fever” and fell into a “high state of delirium” on the night of September 15.36 His wife gave birth to a daughter that same night in Gettysburg, but word would not reach the new father in Baltimore for several days. Armistead could not even complete his official report to Secretary of War James Monroe until September 24, apologizing for the delay because of a “severe indisposition, the effect of great fatigue and exposure.”37

			By that time, still less than two weeks after the battle, he had been promoted from major to brevet lieutenant colonel by President Madison for his gallant service in defense of Fort McHenry. Armistead shared the news in a quick note to Louisa in Gettysburg, describing the “very handsome compliment” from the commander in chief and adding a brief message of hope for their future together:

			So you see, my Dear Wife, all is well, at least your husband has got a name and standing that nothing but divine providence could have given him, and I pray to our Hevenly Father that we may long live to injoy.38

			Lieutenant Colonel George Armistead died four years later in 1818 at the age of thirty-eight, while he was still in command at Fort McHenry. His wife believed he never fully recovered from the affliction that felled him after the battle, probably a fatal heart condition.39 Unlike other young heroes of the War of 1812—Winfield Scott and Zachary Taylor among them—George did not live long enough to attain greater military glory in the Mexican War or campaign for national political office, and so his memory faded over time. Beyond a statue that overlooks the harbor he defended at Fort McHenry, the greatest tribute to his legacy is the big flag itself—the original “Star-Spangled Banner” that flew on September 14, 1814—which he kept and took home for safe-keeping, never imagining its impact on American history more than two hundred years later.40

			The story of its jagged journey to reach the Smithsonian, and his family’s role in making it happen, has rarely been told in detail.
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			CHAPTER TWO

			Family of Fighters

			The first member of the Armistead family to set foot in the New World from England was William in 1635. A deep legacy of military service was already in his blood.41

			William Armistead was a native of Kirk Deighton, Yorkshire and could trace the roots of his ancestral coat of arms to service in the Crusades under King Richard I. There also were extended family links to warriors of the powerful German state of Hesse-Darmstadt.42 Arriving in Virginia less than thirty years after the first permanent English settlement in Jamestown, William and his wife, Anne, parlayed an original land grant of 450 acres from the royal governor into expansive holdings across several Virginia counties, including Caroline and Gloucester. Over the next two hundred-plus years, their remarkable family tree produced a military dynasty of generals, colonels, majors, captains, lieutenants, sergeants, privates, and local militia commanders who fought in all the country’s wars—not to mention attorneys, political leaders, college executives, and at least three presidents of the United States (William Henry Harrison, Benjamin Harrison, and John Tyler).43

			William’s son, John, known as “The Councillor,” was a prototype for the breed. He became sheriff of Gloucester County in 1675 and lieutenant colonel of the local horse militia five years later, the precursor, as such, of future Armistead cavaliers.44 Similar stories of military pedigree and civic service were common among relatives of the pre-Revolutionary era, and various Armistead men are identified in family genealogies and other documents as “Colonel,” almost always denoting a command role in the local militia.

			But it was not until the late 1700s, following U.S. independence, and in the sixth generation since William’s arrival, that the family of Colonel John Bowles Armistead took military service to a new and more profound level. With skeptical European powers probing America’s strength and doubting its long-term viability as a sovereign country, the time had come to consider a full-time professional army for national defense. It was during this period that five of John’s six sons answered the call to be soldiers.

			Four of them—Lewis, Addison, Walker, and George—would go on to serve as U.S. Army officers in the War of 1812.
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			Sometime before 1860, John Bowles Armistead “received by his father’s will all of his land in Prince William County and much stock in Culpeper and Caroline.”45 He became a contemporary of General George Washington in America’s nascent military class and commanded a militia unit in Caroline County during the raucous revolutionary summer of 1775. It was only when the two friends sparred over land and finances in the post-war era that their once-close relationship fell apart. Writing a pointed letter from Mount Vernon in December 1786, Washington admonished Colonel Armistead that “many months have elapsed since I informed you in explicit terms of my want of the money which is due to me from the Estate of your deceased father.” The future president also threatened to take the case to court but eventually backed off and dropped the proceedings.46

			Given the relatively small population of Caroline County, it was no surprise that Armistead met and married into another well-to-do military family with links to Washington and the independence movement. His wife, Lucinda “Lucy” Baylor, was the granddaughter of Colonel John Baylor III, who served under Washington in the French and Indian War, and the niece of Colonel George Baylor, one of Washington’s aides during the Revolution.47 The elder Baylor was also one of the most accomplished breeders of racehorses in colonial America, dubbing his sprawling plantation “Newmarket” after the English racetrack of the same name. His legendary stallion, Fearnought, purchased in England in 1764, was regularly bred with mares belonging to the biggest names of Virginia gentry, including Washington and Thomas Jefferson.48

			John Bowles Armistead married Lucy Baylor in a grand ceremony at Newmarket in 1764. Their first son, also named John, was born into relative luxury a year later and set out to write his own chapter in the family’s military history. He followed tradition by joining a local militia unit in his early twenties, although his first formal service did not come until 1794, during the “Whiskey Rebellion,” an insurrection by western Pennsylvania farmers to protest a newly-levied tax on distilled spirits. Armistead served as aide-to-camp to General Dan Morgan, one of the heroes of the Revolution, and under the overall command of “Light-Horse Harry” Harry Lee, the sitting governor of Virginia (and future father of Robert E. Lee). The action of their makeshift army was quick and decisive, and an “exultant” Washington declared a day of thanksgiving in early 1795 for the “reasonable control which has been given to a spirit of disorder in the suppression of the late insurrection.” 49

			The next chance for military honor came in the late 1790s during the undeclared “Quasi War” with France. Though it was strictly a naval contest sparked by French harassment of merchant ships in the West Indies, President John Adams raised a provisional army in 1798 to protect against the possibility of foreign invasion. John Armistead answered the call along with two of his younger brothers—Addison, then in his mid-twenties, and George, still a teenager at eighteen. All three received officers’ commissions in January 1799.50
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			George Armistead’s U.S. Army commission, signed by President John Adams (Courtesy of Harry, Liz and George Armistead)

			These were the very early days of a formalized military, but the Armistead name (pronounced ARM-sted at the time, or by one account, UM-sted) already was becoming well known to U.S. commanders.51

			Given his experience and family connections, John sought a significant command role in the new military force. A document titled “Candidates for Army Appointments from Virginia, November 1798” noted that he had been an aide to General Morgan on the recent “expedition” and would “not accept an appointment inferior to a Majority in Infantry or Captcy in Cavalry.” He was described as “actively and respectably connected,” and a “Friend to the measures of government,” and General Washington himself wrote that John had “respectable character,” which probably was the deciding factor. His captaincy of a U.S. cavalry unit was confirmed on January 8, 1799.52

			Youngsters Addison and George were thrust into leadership roles of their own when Congress adopted legislation to expand the army, calling for twelve new regiments of infantry. Addison was commissioned as a first lieutenant in the Seventh Infantry on January 10 and the teenaged George became an ensign in the same regiment four days later. George was soon reclassified into a low-level command role with a commission signed by President Adams that remained for years in the family archives: “Reposing special Trust and Confidence in the Patriotism of George Armistead, I have nominated and by and with the advice and consent of the Senate do appoint him a second lieutenant.” He was elevated to first lieutenant early in 1800.53

			But the Provisional Army never fought a battle, because France never invaded the United States, and it was disbanded after hostilities between the countries ended and a peace was reached in mid-1800. John Armistead received an honorable discharge and returned to the local militia, his career having peaked with the Whiskey Rebellion. He never again served in a full-time capacity with the U.S. military.54 The same could not be said, however, for four of his ambitious siblings, whose career goals were just coming into focus as America looked toward the nineteenth century.
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			Addison Bowles Armistead found his calling as a professional soldier, even though he never fired a shot during the Quasi War. Honorably discharged from the Provisional Army in June 1800, he quickly re-enlisted in the regular service, became a first lieutenant in the corps of artillerists and engineers, and was promoted to captain of the artillery by President Jefferson. He eventually rose to command of multiple coastal fortifications in South Carolina during the War of 1812.55

			Addison was the third-oldest Armistead brother behind John and the rarely mentioned William, the only son of this generation who never served in the military. Addison was born at Newmarket sometime between 1773 and 1776, but the precise birth year has never been verified and is omitted altogether in most published genealogies. Family records do, however, provide us with a fairly consistent order of birth—John, William, Addison, George, Lewis G.A., and Walker.56,57

			Details of Addison’s life story have faded with the passage of time, but the few surviving accounts point to him being a dutiful soldier and a trusted, if very strict, commander. Other than taking a two-month furlough in November 1804 to marry Mary Howe Peyton in Dumfries, Virginia, he was listed as present on all military service rolls for five straight years until being promoted to captain of artillery on October 1, 1806. His brother, George, also took leave to attend the wedding ceremony at Dumfries,58 and it is noteworthy that Addison and George are linked at several key junctures in their military careers: they received their first commissions within days of one another in 1799, served together in the same regiment in the Provisional Army, and were assigned to the U.S. Regiment of Artillerists and Engineers as second lieutenants on the same day, February 16, 1801. Both men were then promoted to captain of artillery one month apart in late 1806.59

			This was a time of relative peace for the ascendant nation, but occasional threats from both the French and British raised concerns over the safety of coastal fortifications. As far back as 1794, Congress had assigned a committee to address “the problem of defending at least the principal harbors of the Atlantic seaboard,” including Charleston, Savannah, and Norfolk, the essential ports for the southern U.S.60 Coastal operations took on an even more heightened frenzy in June 1807 when sailors from the British ship Leopard harassed and boarded the USS Chesapeake off the coast of Norfolk, stoking, at least temporarily, the threat of war with England.

			One historian, addressing this period leading up to the War of 1812, wrote that the country was being defended by:

			…a small but energetic corps of U.S. Army artillerists and engineers. These included the redoubtable Armistead brothers: Captain Walker K. Armistead, who greatly improved the Craney Island defenses guarding Norfolk, Va.; and Major George Armistead, commanding Fort McHenry, which dominated the water approach to Baltimore.61

			Overshadowed in this case was Addison, the third “redoubtable” brother, who commanded Savannah’s Fort Jackson in 1808–1809 and would later shuttle to posts at Fort Johnson, Fort Moultrie, and Castle Pinckney in Charleston from 1809–1813 which were largely responsible for the defense of these vital southern harbors.62

			Addison’s thirst for both promotion and publicity are underscored by a curious side trip to Richmond, Virginia to sit for a portrait by the famed French artist Charles Balthazar Julien Fevret de Saint-Memin. The artist was in Virginia’s capital city in 1808 and drew portraits of almost 200 of the state’s most influential citizens. Unfortunately, while Saint-Memin made 142 engravings during this period, he did only “crayon portraits” of 56 other subjects, including Addison. A purported reproduction of the Addison sketch appears in a later book about Saint-Memin’s work in Virginia, and the uniform he wore is described in a publication about army life in the 1800s, but the original portrait has never been located and is likely lost to history.63

			Though a stickler for discipline while on duty, Addison also took great care to look out for the personal well-being of his troops. From early 1812, when he commanded Fort Moultrie in Charleston, Captain Armistead kept up a robust correspondence with Secretary of War William Eustis to seek improved conditions at the post. In January of that year, five months before the war with England, he decried the “defenseless nature” of the local forts and complained that “at the moment I am writing there are several soldiers here in absolute want of medical care.” In February, addressing his deteriorated artillery platforms, he wrote, “I had no idea that timber could have been so much rotted.” In April, he requested that the lime construction of his batteries be crowned with “Palmetto logs,” because otherwise, if struck by cannon balls, they “would be so scattered as to disable the men by getting in their eyes.” By early June, just weeks before the U.S. declaration of war, Addison groused that “the publick buildings at this post are really suffering for want of paint,” and asked Eustis to fund painters to “spruce up” the harbor command.64

			But his ongoing quest for greater military glory was interrupted by an unidentified disease that tragically took his life less than a year into the war. He was granted a brief furlough from duty in October 1812, was noted as “sick” on the regiment’s December muster roll, and passed away suddenly on February 10, 1813 at Fort Moultrie.65 No cause of death was ever listed. Addison’s obituary in the Charleston Times reported that “his remains were interred at Fort Johnson, on the 13th inst., with military honors,” but the old fort on James Island has long ceased to exist and the specific location of his gravesite has never been found.
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			From the day he was born—or at least the day he was named—Lewis Gustavus Adolphus Armistead was destined to be a soldier.

			Christened for the great Swedish warrior Gustavus Adolphus, Lewis carried the designation with pride throughout his life, referring to himself as “Lewis G.A.” and signing with both initials on all letters and official documents.66

			King Gustavus Adolphus commanded Sweden’s military in the first half of the seventeenth century and was renowned for tactical innovations during the Thirty Years’ War, hailed as both the “Lion of the North” and the “father of modern warfare.” He was immortalized in Swedish lore after being killed in action during a daring cavalry charge at the Battle of Lutzen in 1632.67 Lewis G.A. had a much less distinguished military career but rose from Virginia’s militia ranks to become captain of the U.S. 1st Rifle Regiment before falling in a battle at Fort Erie, Canada during the War of 1812.68

			Born about 1781 at Newmarket, the fifth of six Armistead sons, Lewis G.A. took a more unconventional path than his brothers but was no less determined to serve. The first military document in his name is dated October 20, 1807, shortly after a naval conflict known as the Chesapeake-Leopard affair, when he was appointed spokesman by a group of local patriots. Lewis G.A. wrote to the state’s militia commander to inform him that they had formed a new

			“Volunteer Troop of Dragoons…to be styled and known by the name of ‘The Northern Neck Light Dragoons,’ [who] associate not only for the purpose of the defence of the country in which we reside, but will hold ourselves in readiness to march wherever the constituted authorities may direct, to protect our native land, as well as to avenge the insult (as far as we are able) that has been so recently offered to our National Flag.”69

			He identified himself as the unit’s ensign and signed the letter in the manner of an official army officer, “L.G.A. Armistead.” Tempers were soon mollified on both sides of the Atlantic and the dragoons were not needed to “avenge the insult,” but the headstrong Lewis G.A. continued on his unique and oddly winding path toward professional military service.

			In late June 1808, his commanding officer, Major John Tayloe, sent a note to the U.S. secretary of war to “recommend L.G.A. Armistead for a [military] appointment.” He wrote that young Armistead had risen to the rank of lieutenant in his corps of militia dragoons, and “if I did not think he warranted an assignment in the army, I would not speak of him in the terms I do.” Concerned, however, that his argument might not be persuasive on the merits, Tayloe invoked the Armistead surname as a last resort. “He is brother to those of that name—who are now captains and spoken very highly of,” the militia major said. “But if he does not [get into the army] he means to leave shortly to seek employment in New Orleans. He would prefer the cavalry but would be happy to take anything you think proper to confer on him.”70

			It was certainly because he had three brothers who were already U.S. Army officers, and not so much because of a random threat to leave for the bayou, that Lewis G.A. was appointed a second lieutenant in the Marine Corps by President Jefferson on January 16, 1809.71 He was part of a group of three hundred Marines sent to New Orleans to man gunships the next month, but most of his activities from 1809–1811 remain a mystery. He did not reappear in military service records until February 1812 when he was named a first lieutenant in the U.S. Rifles—seemingly out of nowhere becoming an officer of sharpshooters after two unrelated stints with the cavalry and marines.72

			His quixotic military tour had led him to the fledgling “Regiment of Riflemen,” a special unit conceived in 1808 to focus on “forest warfare, skirmishing and ambushes.” Its members were decked out handsomely in distinctive green uniforms with black trim.73 Lewis G.A. formally accepted his commission on February 24, pledging to “hold myself in readiness to receive any orders that might be communicated.”74 He did not have to wait for long, however, as orders came in a frenzy to all available units when war with England broke out in June.

			The riflemen played key support roles in the first two years of the conflict, and Lewis G.A. was present in May 1813 during an attack from Fort Niagara on Fort George—where his brother, George, distinguished himself with the artillery. The regiment was renamed the U.S. 1st Rifles on February 10, 1814 after Congress authorized the creation of three additional rifle units. Political leaders in Washington were so impressed by the success of these organized marksmen that they wanted a concerted push to harass the powerful British and help bring the war to a close.75

			Lewis G.A. was promoted to captain in January 1814 and assigned to defend Sackets Harbor, New York, the lone “useful deep-water” port on the American side of Lake Ontario.76 But with land battles roaring to the southwest near Buffalo that summer, he and his men did not stay there for long. American troops overran the British garrison at Fort Erie in what is now Ontario in early July, and the 1st Rifles were transferred later that month to help hold the vulnerable outpost in Canadian territory. The British, incensed, settled in for a siege.77

			Periodic skirmishing followed, with the two sides exchanging manic potshots along the border. A historian wrote that “the U.S. 1st Rifles, skilled at such engagements, were ordered across the river on August 4” to harass enemy artillerists.78 “We have been skirmishing every day in which we are generally successful,” Lewis wrote on September 7 to his brother, George, at Fort McHenry. “Our corps has suffered severely since it joined the army but all the troops are in fine spirits & wish for an opportunity to give them battle.”79 Constant British pressure soon became untenable, however, and U.S. General Jacob Brown ordered an attack to break the siege on September 17.

			Brown was keenly aware that British forces had sacked Washington, D.C., burned the White House, and were threatening nearby Baltimore (although results of that latter clash on September 12–14 had not yet made it to the frontier). The nation’s focus was now on restoring its capital city, meaning that no fresh troops were available to help the general at Fort Erie. He would have to act on his own. Brown’s plan was to launch a surprise attack “to storm the batteries, destroy the cannon, and roughly handle the brigade upon duty before those in reserve could be brought into the action.” The advance element of the American column was led by two hundred marksmen from the 1st and 4th Rifles.80

			Conditions that day were miserably wet and cloudy. An officer remembered years later that the “atmosphere was heavily loaded with vapors with, now and then, a slight shower.” But the U.S. attackers, including Lewis G.A., used the cover to their advantage as they slogged through the woods to move within sight of the British line. Then, making “a total nuisance of themselves with their constant skirmishing,” they announced their arrival with some man-made thunder.81

			They captured one battery and threatened another until British resistance stiffened. It was at this crucial point that several U.S. commanders were shot down—among them Captain Armistead, who exposed himself at the head of the column as his men surged toward the guns.82 Vicious and desperate fighting continued for almost two hours with heavy losses on both sides, until the Americans pulled back to the safety of the fort. The British quickly abandoned their position several days later—officially ending the siege and allowing Brown to claim a hollow, strategic victory—but research later showed that a withdrawal had been the British plan all along. Sadly, the American attack had been unnecessary.83

			Armistead and other U.S. soldiers who died behind enemy lines were buried by the British in trenches dug for the siege,84 all of them in unmarked graves. Time and the inevitable erosion of two hundred years—and modern progress—have washed away all remnants. Unmarried and without children, he left no other legacy. Brother George was already being honored as the hero of Fort McHenry and savior of Baltimore by the time news arrived in Maryland and Virginia that Lewis G.A. had been killed in action at Fort Erie, the second of two Armistead siblings to give their lives in defense of their country in the War of 1812.
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			Walker Keith Armistead was a trailblazer himself, the first member of his family, and one of the first in the history of the country, to receive a formal military education.

			He graduated at the top of the second class from West Point in 1803, served at key coastal posts from New England to South Carolina, was engaged at Fort Niagara during the bombardment of 1812, organized the defenses of Norfolk in 1813, became the army’s chief engineer, rose to the rank of brevet-brigadier general, and commanded U.S. troops in the Second Seminole War. In contrast to three of his brothers who had died by 1818, Walker lived well into the 1840s and served his country for more than forty years.85

			Named for an uncle, Walker Baylor, who served in the Continental Army during the Revolution, and mindful of his Armistead-Baylor heritage, Walker felt the lure of military service long before his brothers marched off to war. Family genealogies generally agree that he was the youngest of six male siblings, just behind George and Lewis G.A., although misinformation over his birth year has confounded historians for years. It is likely that he was born in or around 1783.86

			What is known for certain is that Walker was one of the original fourteen cadets assigned to “repair” to West Point in September 1801. The military-style campus on the rugged banks of the Hudson was not yet a national academy, but instruction in mathematics and other disciplines began that fall under the direction of the Corps of Artillerists and Engineers. It was “the determination of the Secretary of War that Cadets shall receive some instruction relative to their duty before they receive an appointment [to the army]and for that reason he has ordered them to West Point to attend a military school.” Classes started each day at 8 a.m. on the ground floor of a two-story, wood-framed building dubbed the “Academy,” followed by military drills and field sports in the afternoon.87 Students also were responsible for keeping up the appearance of the campus, and one classmate remembered a small headquarters residence where “Cadet Armistead and myself planted twelve elm trees.”88

			President Jefferson formally created the academy as part of the Military Peace Establishment Act in March 1802. Two cadets were honored as the first graduates that summer, but Walker apparently missed so much classwork because of trips home to Virginia that he was compelled to return for the next academic year. He was nonetheless assigned to the Corps of Engineers and graduated from West Point at the top of the three-man Class of 1803, becoming the No. 3 graduate in school history.89 On March 4, 1803, Secretary of War Henry Dearborn wrote to Jefferson:

			Walker K. Armistead, a Cadet in the Corps of Engineers, having on examination received honorable testimonials of his progress in science and requisite qualifications to sustain a Commission in the Army of the United States, I take the liberty of proposing, to your consideration, the appointment of said Armistead as Second Lieutenant in the Corps of Engineers.90

			Dearborn alerted Lieutenant Armistead the next day that the president had approved his appointment.

			Walker’s career would eventually span two wars, five decades, and land ranging from Fort Niagara to Florida’s swamps, but it began humbly enough with a three-year assignment as an engineer on the West Point campus. He was promoted to first lieutenant in June 1805 and captain of engineers in October 1806—at about the same time that his brothers, Addison and George, became captains in the artillery.91

			Walker’s final pre-war posting was as lead engineer of the Norfolk region, where he built additional batteries at Fort Norfolk and constructed an entirely new fortification on the James River.92 He was elevated to major in 1810 and lieutenant colonel in 1812, just as war broke out with England, putting his career on a blistering fast track. Transferred north to the Niagara region as chief engineer, he saw his first battle action on November 21, 1812, when a heavy British cannonade from Fort George imperiled the garrison at Fort Niagara. The biggest danger from this “incessant storm, of projectiles” was a series of building fires ignited by “red-hot shot,”93 but as Colonel George McFeely noted in his official battle report,

			from the extraordinary vigilance of the officers and men, particularly [Lieutenant Colonel] Armistead of the United States Corps of Engineers, whose indefatigable exertions were extended to all parts of the garrison, the fires were got under without being observed by the enemy.94

			With British threats constantly evolving, Walker was dispatched again to prepare the defenses of Norfolk in March 1813. This was much to the relief of the local militia commander, who deemed him “better qualified in every respect than I am to decide upon the defects of position and structure on the forts.” Walker suggested building a line of redoubts behind Fort Norfolk, digging a ditch around Fort Nelson and using artillery to fortify the weak defensive position on Craney Island.95 The latter move—especially with the Royal Navy lurking—would have a deep-seated effect on military morale that summer in the Chesapeake region.

			The most tantalizing target for the British was the USS Constellation, a powerful frigate anchored in the Elizabeth River between Forts Norfolk and Nelson. Its capture would have been another humiliating setback for the Americans. Local militia forces were prepared to abandon their position in the face of British firepower, convinced that a stand at Craney Island would lead to almost certain defeat, but “after a 30-year-old Army engineer, Walker K. Armistead, voiced his objections, a second council of war reversed the decision and the Americans re-committed to fighting at Craney Island.”96 Combined land and naval forces promptly repelled a British attack on June 22, achieving one of the rare U.S. victories in the first half of the summer of 1813 (and doing so, symbolically, on the sixth anniversary of the Chesapeake-Leopard affair).97

			The war had not yet ended when Walker’s life changed dramatically in another way in 1814. He married Elizabeth Stanley of New Bern, North Carolina, and within four years had purchased a three-hundred-acre farm in Fauquier County, Virginia, where they would raise nine children.98 The army’s call of duty never ceased, however, and his nomadic existence continued with new command roles as chief engineer of the Army (1818), colonel of the Third Artillery (1821), and further postings to West Point, Fort Washington, and Boston.99

			Walker’s last promotion came in 1828 when he was brevetted a brigadier general “for faithful service of ten years in one grade,”100 the highest command level attained by the current generation of military Armisteads. The peak of his career came when he commanded all U.S. Army troops for one year during the Second Seminole War in Florida. But despite his rank and accomplishments, and despite serving honorably as a general into the mid-1840s, he would fail to match the fame of another brother, George, a mere lieutenant colonel.
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			CHAPTER THREE

			“A Flag So Big”

			Even in a family of accomplished U.S. military officers, George Armistead stood out from a young age for his natural leadership ability. Born on April 10, 1780 at Newmarket, the fourth of six sons, George was only nineteen years old when he became a second lieutenant in the Quasi War and had not yet turned twenty-one when President John Adams nominated him for a captaincy in the regular army early in 1801.101 He barely had time to learn on the job.

			The uncle for whom he was named, General George Baylor, served as one of George Washington’s aides-de-camp in the Revolutionary War and was praised for “military ardor” and “spirited behaviour upon every occasion.”102 Promoted to command of the Third Regiment of Continental Light Dragoons, Baylor never fully recovered from a bayonet wound suffered during a British attack in 1778. He died six years later of the “fatigues of the war and the effects of wounds,” leaving his own legacy of military ardor to inspire George Armistead and other descendants.103

			The U.S. Army at the turn of the nineteenth century was woefully deficient in organization and manpower just as a new generation of soldiers was coming of age. Many veterans of the Revolution had returned to their homes and farmsteads, never to serve again, and the subject of a standing army to preserve the peace and defend the nation from attack was still a matter of fierce debate. There were those, including the great states-rights advocate, Thomas Jefferson, who believed the concept of a full-time army was a corruption of America’s founding ideals. “There shall be no standing army but in time of actual war,” Jefferson wrote, adding that it was neither “needful nor safe” for an army “to be kept up in time of peace.”104 But others disagreed. Among Quasi War veterans who re-enlisted in a new and more expansive U.S. defensive force in 1801, George was quickly identified as a rising star.

			He became a first lieutenant in the Second Regiment of Artillerist and Engineers on February 16, 1801 and was nominated as captain a few weeks later by President Adams, whose term was just expiring.105 As fate would have it, the promotion was never approved by the Senate, likely because of the change in administrations, so twenty-one-year-old Lieutenant Armistead was assigned instead to a company of artillerists serving on the Canadian border at Fort Niagara. He also was given the dual role of assistant military agent, charged with handling the garrison’s supplies.106

			Located at the mouth of the Niagara River where it flows into Lake Ontario, Fort Niagara was very much in the hinterlands of North America when George reported for duty in September 1801. The population was sparse and the winters unusually harsh for a soldier raised in the American south. A permanent fort had been built there by the French in 1726 and occupied by the British during the French and Indian War (1759), but controversial new boundaries drawn up in the wake of the Revolution now placed it just inside the U.S. border. Following a lengthy and acrimonious transition period, American troops took control of the fort in 1796.107

			The British responded by erecting a rival structure, Fort George, directly across the river, but individual soldiers on both sides remained cordial enough that Lieutenant Armistead was a frequent hunting companion of British Colonel Isaac Brock, later commander of all enemy forces in Upper Canada.108

			Armistead’s service during his first term at Fort Niagara lasted six years from 1801 to 1807. Much of his surviving correspondence reflects the monotony of nineteenth century military life on the frontier—he once confined a soldier to barracks for the grievous sin of “riding a public horse without my consent or knowledge”—but it also gave the first hint of his career-long fascination with massively oversized garrison flags.109 Unhappy that Niagara was no longer in possession of its original U.S. flag, he wrote to military agent Peter Gansevoort in Albany on October 12, 1802 to request a stand of colors “16 yards by 12 yards” as a new and official national ensign for the fort.110

			The sheer size of the flag (thirty-six by forty-eight feet) was overwhelming, but one of his goals was to ensure that British troops on the Canadian side would have no trouble seeing it from a distance.
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			Promoted to captain, finally, on November 1, 1806, when he was still just twenty-six years old, George seemed destined for military greatness until a new set of instructions almost sidetracked his career.

			“I have received orders to join my company at Chickasaw Bluffs on the Mississippi, a journey of about 3,000 miles,” he wrote to his sister in early 1807, unaware that he actually would be heading to tiny Fort Madison in the even more remote Arkansas territory.111 Situated on the banks of the Arkansas River about fifty miles north of its confluence with the Mississippi, the generically-named “Arkansas Post” had been in existence under French rule since 1686 but did not become part of United States territory until the Louisiana Purchase in 1803. It was still not much more than a rickety trading post and fringe frontier military establishment when Armistead departed Fort Niagara for his new assignment on March 15, 1807.112

			A contemporary inventory taken just before his arrival detailed a “50’ x 10’ shingled barrack with double clay chimney [with a] prison at one end, a 20’ and 12’ poorly maintained kitchen with a store room for war supplies, an earthen oven, three sentry ‘boxes’ in poor condition, a flag staff, and the normal locks, keys, hinges and latches for (keeping) each building in proper order.”113 The population was 368, made up of “between sixty and seventy families … and about sixty Black slaves,” and a wide-eyed visitor wrote that it “consists mostly of hunters and Indian traders, [and] of course it is a poor place, as settlers of this description never look for anything beyond the mere necessities of life, except whiskey.”114

			Beginning his trek in late winter, George traveled by sleigh across ice-covered Lake Erie and stopped briefly at home to visit his family in Virginia before angling to the southwest and the Trans-Mississippi Valley. Along the way he complained to his sister that he had “not heard a word” from their brother, Walker, adding, with a wink, “I presume his promotion [to captain]has been the cause of his forgetting his promises.”115 Once he arrived in the wilds of Arkansas, however, the joking ended and his outlook hardened. The little garrison at Fort Madison included only sixteen soldiers and was located as far from civilization as one could imagine.116 George spent many idle hours on the frontier wondering if his lifelong quest for military glory would now be hopelessly overshadowed by the rapid ascent of his well-schooled sibling from West Point.

			It would not. Less than a year into his tenure, he received a new assignment as justice of the peace for the New Madrid District, despite the lack of any formal legal training. A historian described the appointment as the “direct result of the need to establish American sovereignty over the Louisiana Purchase” and noted that many military officers in the region now “played a central role in settling civil disputes.”117 Most of the Founding Fathers would have decried such a dual role as an affront to U.S. civil liberties, but it was Jefferson himself who put the plan into action, opting to use military options to maintain order in otherwise unmanageable territories. Armistead became a justice on May 18, 1808, obtaining his commission from the territorial governor, Meriwether Lewis (who recently had explored the uncharted U.S. interior from Missouri to the Pacific with fellow adventurer William Clark).118

			Judge Armistead made no lasting legal decisions and spent his brief time in that capacity settling minor disputes over land and other property, but he gained new insight into leadership and problem-solving that would help him in future assignments. The broadened perspective came in handy soon enough. A series of drastic events on the eastern seaboard threatened to pitch the young nation into war with England, including the Chesapeake-Leopard affair in 1807 and the repeated impressment of U.S. citizen-sailors by the British Navy. Promising commanders were now needed at threatened fortifications on the Atlantic coast, and Armistead told friends on November 30, 1808 that he would be leaving in a few days for a new post at Baltimore—specifically, as fate would have it, at a place called Fort McHenry.119
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			The pentagon-shaped “Star Fort” on Whetstone Point in Baltimore was the perfect place to project symbolic power and shield the nation’s third-largest city from seaborne attack.120

			Built on a peninsula jutting out past the inner harbor and between two branches of the Patapsco River, Fort McHenry dated to the late 1790s, when the U.S. first conceived of a series of coastal fortifications to protect against probing maritime powers. The walls and buildings were constructed of brick—a vast improvement over its predecessor, Fort Whetstone, which had been a mere earthen structure—and a deep, broad moat had been carved out to provide a defensive buffer while also accommodating infantry. The five bastions, or points, were arranged in such a way that cannons posted there could deliver a deadly crossfire, repelling any land-based attack.121 The double-tiered “water batteries” were the first line of defense, protecting and controlling the harbor channel.”122

			Named for James McHenry, secretary of war under Presidents Washington and Adams, the fort was still being modified and strengthened for battle when twenty-eight-year-old Captain George Armistead reported for duty in January 1809 to serve as second in command of the First Regiment of U.S. Artillery.123 The facilities were far advanced from anything he had experienced in rural Arkansas. Secretary of War John Armstrong described the McHenry complex as a “regular pentagon of masonry, calculated for thirty guns, a water battery, with ten heavy guns mounted, a brick magazine that will contain three hundred barrels of powder, with brick barracks for two companies of men and officers; without the fort, a wooden barrack for one company, also a brick store and gun house.”124 At the very least, it would give enemies pause before attacking.

			Little is known of Armistead’s military achievements during his three-year stint in Baltimore from 1809 to early 1812. Aside from noting the arrival of the first mobile horse-drawn artillery unit in U.S. Army history, the fort’s records from this period are numbingly “routine and uneventful.”125 The same cannot be said for George’s personal life. Having spent the previous decade stranded at lonely outposts on the frontier, he took advantage of Baltimore’s thriving social scene to woo and win the hand of Louisa Hughes, daughter of a wealthy merchant, Christopher Hughes, Sr. They were married on October 26, 1810 at Otterbein Church on the city’s waterfront. One of the witnesses to the wedding was George’s new brother-in-law, Christopher Hughes, Jr., soon to command a company of volunteer artillerists at Fort McHenry (and later assigned to accompany U.S. peace commissioners to Ghent, Belgium to negotiate with the British).126

			The newlyweds were virtually inseparable until April 9, 1812, when the disruptive nature of military life set in. With war looming, George was ordered to report to Bedloe’s Island, located at the tip of Manhattan—known today as Liberty Island, home of the Statue of Liberty—to assist with the defense of New York harbor.127 Louisa had just become pregnant and was forced to remain in Baltimore, fretting about his safety, especially after Congress officially declared war in June. Fortunately for George, his most heated “action” during this period was leading a procedural protest by eighteen infantry and artillery officers to overturn the appointment of an engineer to command their post.128 The British never attacked New York, no battles took place in the harbor, and he returned home, at least briefly, for the Christmas holiday and the birth of their first daughter, Mary, on December 27.129

			Captain Armistead was on the move again in February, when he was ordered back to Fort Niagara to take command of a company of artillerists.130 U.S. efforts to invade Canada in 1812 had resulted in a series of humiliating defeats—veteran British troops posted there were reinforced by a loose confederation of Canadian militia and local Indians—but hope had sprung anew with a new campaign planned for 1813. Tensions ran high along the Niagara River border, where soldiers at the once-friendly garrisons of Fort Niagara and Fort George glared at one another from less than a mile apart. Armistead’s role in the coming conflict was elevated further when he was promoted to major of the 3rd Regiment of Artillerists shortly after his arrival on March 3, 1813.131

			It is curious to note that the orders from Adjutant General Thomas H. Cushing referenced “George K. Armistead,” the first and only time during his military career that George was identified by a middle initial.132 His brothers all proudly used their middle names and signed official documents with those names or initials—Walker Keith or W.K.; Addison Bowles or A.B.; Lewis G.A.—but George relied solely on his first name, signing as “George” or “Geo” Armistead. Neither his few surviving papers nor numerous published family genealogies indicate a middle name or initial.

			After much careful planning and several feints to hold the enemy in place, the U.S. began its attack on Fort George when Armistead unleashed an artillery barrage at daybreak on May 27.133 This was followed by a well-coordinated land and sea assault, as invading troops under a dashing young colonel named Winfield Scott swarmed the shoreline. Outnumbered British and Canadian defenders put up stiff resistance but eventually were forced to retreat in the face of overwhelming U.S. firepower.134 Witnesses from both sides credited Armistead’s gunners with delivering ghastly punishment from strongly-placed batteries at Fort Niagara.

			One British commander noted matter-of-factly in his report that American artillerists “kept up a most galling cross-fire on us the whole morning,”135 but another provided more context, crediting the outcome to “[fire] from the enemy’s fort and all his adjacent batteries, with 16 guns, chiefly of large calibre, and three mortars…and the shot being all heated and the fire so successful that the buildings were totally consumed.”136

			He added,

			with excessive heavy firing coming from the enemy’s fort and six batteries…[and with] the fort in flames and shells bursting amongst us in every direction, and very few artillery men left and no object in such a situation to be obtained, I suspended the fire…and the enemy, finding all the buildings in the fort consumed, ceased his fire about 2 o’clock.137

			By contrast, early dispatches from victorious U.S. commanders lacked both specifics and emotion. “We took possession of Fort George and its immediate dependencies this day,” Major General Henry Dearborn reported dryly to the governor of New York. “Our troops behaved like brave old soldiers. We have much more to do.”138 A week later, however, the New York National Advocate published a more passionate account from an anonymous battle veteran, offering additional detail and placing the rare U.S. victory in its proper context.

			We have had another battle and our flag waves triumphant over Fort George…Our success I attribute in a great measure to the good conduct of artillerists on our side of the river, who in a short period demolished all the enemy’s works. Indeed, their accurate firing and good management is beyond all praise. Major Armistead commanded during the campaign at Fort Niagara. Fort George was completely demolished and burnt.139

			Reports of Armistead’s dazzling performance soon found their way to Washington, D.C., and the War Department. General Dearborn informed Secretary of War Armstrong in a June 8 letter that he was “greatly indebted” to Armistead and two other officers “for their judicious arrangements and skillful execution” in pulverizing the British at Fort George.140 The thirty-three-year-old major was accorded the honor of presenting captured British battle flags to President James Madison—who was ecstatic, having endured a year of caustic taunts from anti-war advocates—and Armstrong determined that it was ludicrous to send such a capable officer back to the frontier when both Baltimore and Washington were threatened. In a seemingly-innocuous official dispatch on June 27, one that would soon find its place in the pantheon of American history, the secretary instructed Armistead to remain at home and “take command of Fort McHenry.”141
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			Overjoyed as he was to reunite with his wife in Baltimore and live for the first time with his baby daughter, Mary, now six months old, George had little time to devote to family matters.

			British naval forces under the ruthless Rear Admiral George Cockburn were marauding virtually unopposed across the Chesapeake, pillaging coastal towns and villages. Cockburn (pronounced “COE-burn” by the British and “COCK-burn” by the Americans) had plundered and burned the upper Maryland towns of Frenchtown, Havre de Grace, and Fredericktown in a vicious springtime tour de force.142 On May 5 at Fredericktown, Cockburn forced the local militia commander to watch in helpless horror as furious redcoats torched his house, barn, carriage house, and other property. “How do you like the war now?” the admiral sneered.143 A mid-June assault on Craney Island near Norfolk was foiled by Walker Armistead and his engineers, but Cockburn dispatched two companies of French prisoners three days later to loot and ravage the nearby town of Hampton, Virginia.144

			George Armistead’s first task upon arrival was to prevent such a raid from burning down Baltimore. Concerned about the lack of manpower at Fort McHenry, he quickly placed a newspaper advertisement offering bonus money and “One Hundred and Sixty Acres of Land” to each new recruit who applied directly to “GEO ARMISTEAD, Major, 3rd Artillery.”145 He then set about shoring up the fort’s physical defenses. Writing on July 13 to General Samuel Smith, the local militia commander, Armistead noted that “to place this post in a complete state of defense” would require nineteen heavy guns and two ten-inch mortars, “and at least 25 spherical shot for each gun,” all of which would “add considerably to the defense and safety of Baltimore.”146

			They also planned for the construction of two earthen shore batteries and the redeployment of more militia units, including the Baltimore Fencibles under Captain Joseph Nicholson, chief judge of the sixth judicial district and court of appeals of Maryland.147

			Once it all was underway, however, Armistead reportedly had a request of his own for General Smith:

			We, Sir, are ready at Fort McHenry to defend Baltimore against invading by the enemy. That is to say, we are ready except that we have no suitable ensign to display over the Star Fort, and it is my desire to have a flag so large that the British will have no difficulty in seeing it from a distance.148

			Armistead’s obsession with mammoth banners had not changed since his earliest days at Fort Niagara. Even during his uneventful first stint at Fort McHenry in 1811, he had written to Colonel Henry Burbeck of the artillery corps, informing him “that I am getting up a new Flag staf and it will be among the handsomest now standing” and soliciting Burbeck’s assistance “in getting a new flag.”149 The execution was waylaid by his assignment to Bedloe’s Island and a return engagement at Fort Niagara in the first full year of the war, but Armistead never wavered in his quest for a proper stand of colors. Charged now with defending his city against the world’s greatest military power, he believed the time had come for a flag that would not only identify the fort but instill pride and boost his men’s morale.

			[image: ]

			An image of Mary Pickersgill from later in life. She was thirty-seven years old when she made the Star-Spangled Banner. (Wikimedia Commons, Harris & Ewing Collection)

			The task was assigned in early July to a thirty-seven-year-old widow named Mary Young Pickersgill, a Baltimore seamstress and flag-maker of some renown. Mary was the daughter of Rebecca Young, who had produced flags, blankets, and uniforms for the Continental Army during the Revolution (and therefore was a business rival of the more famous Betsy Ross). Mrs. Pickersgill ran a brisk business from her modest little home at the corner of Pratt and Albemarle Streets, offering “colors of every description,” including flags and signal flags, to the ships and maritime merchants who docked at Baltimore’s teeming port.150 The workforce included her thirteen-year-old daughter, Caroline; three teenage nieces, Eliza, Margaret, and Jane Young; and a thirteen-year-old African American indentured servant, Grace Wisher, who was assigned to learn “the art and mystery of Housework and plain sewing.”151 It is likely that Mary’s seventy-three-year-old mother helped with various projects or, at the very least, offered advice. The role of an unidentified female slave at the Pickersgill home is unknown; she probably handled household chores during this period but also may have assisted directly in the flag-making process.

			Local legend holds that Armistead himself approached Pickersgill to place a rush order for two colors: a large garrison flag, measuring thirty feet by forty-two feet, and a smaller “storm flag” for inclement conditions (seventeen by twenty-five feet).152 More persuasive evidence is that contact was made by two other officers involved in Baltimore’s defense, Joshua Barney and John Stricker, both of whom had family connections to Pickersgill (although it was the army’s deputy commissary, James Calhoun, who ultimately paid the bill). “My mother was selected by Commodore Barney and General Stricker to make this ‘Star Spangled Banner,’ which she did, being an exceedingly patriotic woman,” Mary’s daughter wrote.153 The situation was tense and the timetable abnormally tight because of Cockburn’s menacing presence in the bay area. One report said the flags were expected to be delivered in six weeks.154

			Pickersgill went to work immediately on a U.S. flag with fifteen stars and fifteen stripes, the standard design of that era. The original Flag Act, passed on June 14, 1777, had decreed that “the flag of the thirteen United States be thirteen stripes, alternate red and white” and that “the union be thirteen stars, white in a blue field, representing a new constellation.” But the admission of new states following the Revolution led to a second Flag Act in 1795, adding two stars and two stripes for Kentucky and Vermont. It remained that way for more than twenty years, even as more states joined the Union (there were actually eighteen states, including Tennessee, Ohio, and Louisiana, when war broke out in 1812). Not until 1818 did Congress pass a bill to reduce the flag to thirteen permanent stripes, while adding a star for each new state.155

			Pickersgill and her co-workers put in ten-hour days, using four hundred yards of dyed English worsted wool bunting and making, by one estimate, more than 350,000 individual stitches. A singular design challenge was that the bunting was only eighteen inches wide, while each stripe had to be twenty-three inches; Mary, in essence, had to do tedious patchwork stitching on the most famous flag in U.S. history. The two-foot wide white cotton stars were then sewn into the blue union by the reverse applique method—cutting holes in the union to let the stars show through on both sides, saving on both weight and material.156

			Though a veteran flag-maker, Pickersgill had never handled a task this large and was forced to innovate on the fly, given the army’s stark deadline. As one of her biographers described it, Mary “gathered the fabric necessary for the two flags; calculated how to make two flags with eighteen-inch bunting; carefully cut and pieced the fabric for the strips, canton, and stars; marshaled the females in her household and other female relatives to help with the sewing, and found a large space to assemble the flag.” It is noteworthy that all the sewing was done by hand, as sewing machines were not available to the public until the 1850s.157

			The finishing touch was sewing a linen sleeve on one side of the flag, known as the “hoist.” By attaching iron rings and then using a length of rope, the flag could be raised and lowered on a pole for proper display.158

			Many years later, Mary’s daughter, Caroline, wrote in a letter to one of Armistead’s daughters that “my mother worked many nights until 12 o’clock to complete it in the given time.

			“The flag being so very large, mother was obliged to obtain permission from the proprietors of Claggets brewery, which was in our neighborhood, to spread it out in their malt house; and I remember seeing my mother down on the floor, placing the stars; after the completion of the flag, she superintended the topping of it, having fastened it in the most secure manner to prevent it being torn away by [cannon] balls…Your father (Col. Armistead) declared that no one but the maker of the flag should mend it.”159

			The flags were delivered to Armistead at Fort McHenry on August 19, 1813. According to a receipt signed by Mary’s niece, Eliza Young, she received a payment of $405.90 for an “American Ensign 30 by 42 feet first quality bunting” and an additional $168.54 for the smaller storm flag, for a total of $574.44.160 No one thought to record the moment when the big banner flew over Baltimore harbor for the first time, but it likely was on the day of delivery, with Mrs. Pickersgill present to oversee its placement. Weighing more than fifty pounds, and perhaps as much as eighty, the flag was fastened to a ninety-foot pole that was held in position by two large hand-hewn oak timbers, anchored several feet in the ground as supporting cross braces.161

			The British, who had probed the Chesapeake all summer and ventured as far as the mouth of the Patapsco, near Baltimore, for two weeks in mid-August, left the bay by pre-arranged plan on August 24 to avoid the “sickly season” and sail for warm winter headquarters in the West Indies.162 But Armistead was convinced they had at least caught a glimpse of his massive new flag—or heard from others who had seen it—and deemed himself satisfied, even if his showdown with the Royal Navy would have to wait another year.
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